1970

Mavis H. Middleton Administratrix of the Estate Of James L. Middleton, A/K/A James Lamont Middleton, Deceased v. Adele R. Cox, Administratrix of the Estate Of Elmyrrh Leany Cox, Deceased : Brief of Appellant

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action for the wrongful death of Plaintiff's intestate, James L. Middleton, who was killed in an airplane crash on the 13th day of June, 1965, along with another passenger and ElMyrrh Leany Cox, deceased, the pilot of the aircraft. The surviving widow, Mavis H. Middleton, brings this action to recover damages for the wrongful death of her husband.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Defendant motioned for summary judgment contending that the facts herein are not sufficient to take this case to the jury. The Trial Court found in favor of the defendant and dismissed the complaint of plaintiff, with prejudice, upon the merits.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff seeks a reversal of the trial court's summary judgment in favor of the defendant.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On or about the 13th day of June, 1965, plaintiff's intestate, James L. Middleton, while acting as a volunteer for the Civil Air Patrol, was killed in a plane crash ElMyrrh Leany Cox, deceased, owned and piloted the plane, and James Miles, deceased, was an observer.

The Civil Air Patrol is an auxiliary arm of the United States Air Force, and its main function consists of search and rescue operations. On the day of the fatal crash, the Utah wing of the Civil Air Patrol had been authorized to search a certain "grid" area in Southern Utah and subsequent to this authorization, Dr. Cox was assigned a certain "grid" area and he accepted this assignment and took with him two observers, including plaintiff's intestate.

Dr. Cox's plane was having generator trouble before he took off on the morning of June 13th, 1965, and

he had, in fact, ordered a new generator from one Byron Jensen of Provo, Utah. (Statement of Blaine D. Wood, 8) At the time of the "take off," it was understood by those connected with the incident, that there would be two planes, each assigned to a specific grid area, and said planes would cover their respective grid areas, meet in Zions Park, and then return to St. George, Utah. (Statement of Chester Wesley Whitehead, 10).

While in flight, the two planes had radio contact and then searched their respective grid areas, after which, the two planes flew side by side, could not make radio contact, and Dr. Cox held up his radio mike and waved it back and forth indicating to Whitehead and Johnson that his radio was dead. (Statements of Chester W. Whitehead, 10 and James C. Johnson, 6 and 7).

Shortly after this time the two planes landed at the Bryce Canyon Airport, where they refueled and prepared for the trip back to St. George. It was there determined that the battery was dead in the plane flown by Dr. Cox and that the generator was inoperative. (Statement of James C. Johnson, 8). At the time of the fueling of the aircraft belonging to Dr. Cox, one of the crew members of said plane stated that they were having battery trouble and asked a certain Jerome Bartlett if he could arrange for a battery charge. Mr. Bartlett stated that this man was the pilot. (Statement of Jerome Bartlett, 5).

Dr. Cox chose not to have the battery of his aircraft charged and it was started by a method known as hand-

cranking. (Statement of Chester W. Whitehead, 12). On that same day, one John Hancock, of Bryce Canyon, Utah, Electronics Technician for the Federal Aviation Agency, was summoned to the Bryce Canyon Airport on the report that someone was having trouble starting their plane, but before he arrived at the airport, he saw what he recognized to be a Bellanca airplane, take off from said airport. Mr. Hancock continued over to the airport where he was informed that the plane in need of assistance had a dead or weak battery. (Statement of John Hancock, 2, 3, 4 and 5).

After the two planes were started at Bryce Canyon Airport, they initiated their respective takeoffs and proceeded back to St. George by alternative routes. The day was clear, the sun was shining and the temperature was warm to quite hot. Dr. Cox's plane is a light aircraft, brand name, Bellanca, and it proceeded on a direct route back to St. George from Bryce Canyon Airport, where it crashed in the mountains on the 13th day of June, 1965.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT PLAINTIFF'S INTES-TATE WAS A GUEST UNDER SECTION 2-1-33 UTAH CODE ANN. (1953).

This matter comes before the Supreme Court on summary judgment in favor of defendant. The first question to be considered is whether plaintiff's intestate

was a guest under Section 2-1-33 Utah Code Ann. (1953), which determination is ordinarily reserved for the jury.

Section 2-1-33 Utah Code Ann. (1953).

No person riding in an aircraft as a guest, without payment for the ride or transportation, nor his personal representative in the event of the death of such guest, shall have a cause of action against any pilot or crewman of such aircraft or its owner or his employee or agent for injury, death, or loss, in the case of accident, unless the accident was caused by the intoxication or wilful misconduct of the pilot or crewman of such aircraft or its owner or his employee or agent and unless such intoxication proximately resulted in the injury, death or loss for which the action is brought.

The purpose of the Civil Air Patrol is that of search and rescue; its most ordinary duty is attempting to find aircraft which are reported to be lost. To effect this purpose, it is the custom of the Civil Air Patrol to enlist the help of pilots and owners of planes to aid in said search and rescue operations. Observers, too, are a usual and necessary part of this operation, and it was in this capacity that plaintiff's intestate, James L. Middleton, was aboard the aircraft of ElMyrrh Leany Cox at the time of the fatal accident. The fact is that pilots and owners of planes are compensated by the Civil Air Patrol for certain communications expenses and also for fuel, and while observers are not compensated, they are necessary to the operation because they look for downed air-

craft while the pilot flies the plane. (Statement of Chester K. Whitehead, 3 and 8)

It is the contention of plaintiff, that although James L. Middleton did not give Dr. Cox any money to ride with him, that said Middleton was a paying guest for the cause and reason that he provided services which were a necessary part of the Civil Air Patrol operation and were necessary for said Cox to reap compensation for his communications and fuel expenses.

The State of California has a "guest statute" comparable to ours and in *Whittemore v. Lockheed Aircraft Corporation*, 51 Cal. App. 2d 605, 125 P.2d 531 (1942), the court pointed out that the compensation contemplated by the statute might consist of any benefit of a tangible nature received as a consideration for the ride, and that such compensation might consist of a business advantage or benefit accruing to the operator of the airplane.

There are relatively few cases interpreting the airplane "guest statutes," but the guest statute concerning automobiles is correlative and applicable.

The purpose of the automobile guest statute according to *Jensen v. Mower*, 4 U.2d 336, 294 P.2d 683 (1956), is to relieve the hardship which is visited upon a generous driver who is sued by an invited rider for ordinary negligence of the driver when the rider gave nothing to compensate the driver for the transportation. The contention has also been proffered that the guest statute relieves the insurance company of the disadvantage it

would otherwise suffer and avoids fraud and collusion. If we assume the same purposes behind the airplane "guest statute," we can see the purpose and intent of the statute is not applicable to the instant case and because this statute is in derogation of the common law, it should be strictly construed. James L. Middleton compensated ElMyrrh Leany Cox by his services as an observer, which services were needed by Dr. Cox to complete his mission for the Civil Air Patrol.

In *Smith v. Franklin*, 14 Ut.2d 16, 376 P.2d 540 (1962), the Supreme Court said that the determination of whether a passenger in an automobile was a guest within the guest statute or a passenger for hire, should be made on the basis of what the chief inducement was for giving the ride. The Court went on to say that where payment for the ride is the main inducement, the fact that there may also exist some social incentive which makes giving the ride enjoyable or desirable for the driver, would not change its character to that of host and guest. The Court concluded by saying where a dispute exists concerning the status of the plaintiff under the law, that Rule 50 (b) U.R.C.P. was obviously designed to encourage the submission of controverted issues to the jury whenever there is any doubt about the matter.

In the present case, the chief inducement for taking James L. Middleton, deceased, on that certain search and rescue mission of June 13th, 1965, was the fact that said Middleton would contribute to the operation by performing necessary services as an observer. If the above

cannot be stated as a matter of law, then it is for the jury to decide in accordance with the letter and spirit of Rule 50 (b) U.R.C.P.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING, AS A MATTER OF LAW, THAT DEFENDANT'S INTESTATE WAS NOT NEGLIGENT UNDER THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.

The plaintiff contends that her intestate, James L. Middleton, was not a passenger and therefore, was owed the duty of ordinary care and prudence, but in the alternative, that if plaintiff's intestate is found to be a passenger by this court, then and in that event, plaintiff contends that ElMyrrh Leany Cox can be found to have been wilfully negligent in the present case. The plaintiff's proof depends on the negligence of defendant and the doctrine of *Res Ipsa Loquitur*.

It can be generally stated that the doctrines of *Res Ipsa Loquitur*, where it is recognized and applied in the particular jurisdiction, depends on two propositions:

1. That the aircraft was under the exclusive control and management of the defendant.

2. The accident was of a kind of character that does not ordinarily happen if due care is used. 6 ALR 2d 528. *Angerman Co. v. Edgemon* 76 Ut. 394, 290 P. 169.

In *Norden v. U. S.* (DC RI) 187 F. Supp 594, an action for property damage was sustained where pilot defendant's airplane, in attempting to execute a low

pass, crashed on plaintiff's real estate, and it appearing that the day of the crash was a clear one and ideal for flying, the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* was applied. The facts in the instant case indicate that the day was clear and sunny and there was no interference by weather conditions which were unknown or could not be expected. Dr. Cox, an experienced pilot, knew that a light plane, flying at high altitudes, could confront dangerous atmospheric conditions. Dr. Cox chose to ignore this and, in fact, stated that he would take the fastest and most direct route to St. George. (Statement of James C. Johnson, 8) In *Genero v. Ewing*, 176 Wash. 78, 28 P.2d 116 (1934), the defendant cranked his airplane without blocks in front of the wheels and with no one at the controls; the plane then moved rapidly toward plaintiff's hanger, where it crashed. The court said that in this case the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* would be enough to get the plaintiff by a nonsuit and to the jury.

In the case of *Herndon v. Gregory*, 190 Ark. 702, 81 S.W.2d 849 (1935), the pilot of a private aircraft allowed his son to operate the controls, whereupon, said aircraft crashed. The court said the fact that there was no negligence shown removed this case from the rule of *res ipsa loquitur*, but the court went further, stating that if the plaintiff had alleged a fact over which human conduct had control, then the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur* could be applied.

In the present case, Dr. Cox had complete control and management of the aircraft of a warm sunny day,

but in addition, he wilfully disregarded a dead battery and inoperative generator and flew his plane on a route which presented known hazards to a heavily loaded aircraft at high altitudes.

Blaine D. Wood, experienced pilot of seven years at the time of this statement, indicated that a light plane flying at high altitudes with three passengers, would have a density altitude problem. Mr. Wood explained:

"Well, on a hot day your air is thinner so the aircraft doesn't function as though it would on a cool, moist day; and then you had wind blowing from one direction or the other and you're on the wrong side of the hill and too low, you'd have a downdraft problem." (Statement of Blaine D. Wood, 9)

At the Bryce Canyon Airport, it was indicated to a Mr. Jerome Bartlett that a certain Bellanca airplane was having battery trouble and one of the crew members, Dr. Cox, asked said Bartlett to charge the battery on the aircraft. According to Mr. Bartlett, the following conversation took place, see page 5 of the statement of Jerome Bartlett:

Q. All right, now what did he say with respect to the battery, as near as you can recall.

A. Well, his remarks were that the battery was weak and they weren't able to use their radio and he was in kind of a quandry whether his instruments would work properly, either that they needed the energy from the radio or from the battery. And he asked me if I could charge it for him. And I told him I didn't

have the charger there at the airport but that I could come back over here and get the charger I used for automobiles. And his decision was made immediately — wasn't made immediately, but, oh, I would say in a space of five or ten minutes. He told me that they only had to go to St. George and he believed that he wouldn't have any trouble getting there, rather than waste the time. It would have taken a couple of hours —

Q. I see.

A. — to come over and get the charger and connect it to an electrical energy source and charge the battery. So rather than do that, he decided to head for St. George.

This court has often stated that summary judgment is a drastic remedy and should be granted only when under the facts viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff he could not recover as a matter of law. *Welchman v. Wood*, 9 Ut.2d 25, 337 P.2d 410 (1959). Reasonable minds would differ concerning whether a prudent pilot would fly a small aircraft loaded with three passengers, on a hot summer day over the airway route hereinbefore mentioned with a dead battery and inoperative generator.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING, AS A MATTER OF LAW, THAT PLAINTIFF'S EXCLUSIVE REMEDY LIES WITHIN THE WORKMEN'S COMPENSATION ACT.

Plaintiff does not contend that her intestate was employed by the Civil Air Patrol or by defendant's

intestate, but does allege that James L. Middleton, deceased, was a functionary on the flight and did perform services as consideration for his presence; however, the court should find that James L. Middleton was employed on the fatal flight, then plaintiff would contend that her intestate was employed by defendant's intestate who was an independent contractor. When the question of an independent contractor is considered, the Court should note that there is no sufficient evidence here to evaluate such a proposal as the status of an independent contractor depends on control, supervision, use of equipment and other factors necessitating determination of facts which are not before this court. *Parkinson v. Industrial Comm.*, 110 U. 309, 172 P.2d 136 (1946), accord *Ewer v. Industrial Comm.*, 112 U. 538, 189 P.2d 950 (1948).

In addition neither defendant's intestate nor the Civil Air Patrol have complied with the Workmen's Compensation statutes and therefore, cannot rely on Section 35-1-60, Utah Code Ann. (1953) but are precluded from such reliance by Section 35-1-57, Utah Code Ann. (1953) which follows:

"Employers who shall fail to comply with the provisions of Section 35-1-46 shall not be entitled to the benefits of this title during the period of noncompliance, but shall be liable in a civil action to their employees for damages suffered by reason of personal injuries arising out of or in the course of employment caused by the wrong-

ful act, neglect or default of the employer or any of the employer's officers, agents or employees,

and also to the dependents or personal representatives of such employees where death results from such injuries. In any such action the defendant shall not avail himself of any of the following defenses: the defense of the fellow-servant rule, the defense of assumption of risk, or the defense of contributory negligence. Proof of the injury shall constitute prima facie evidence of negligence on the part of the employer and the burden shall be upon the employer to show freedom from negligence resulting in such injury. And such employers shall also be subject to the provisions of the two sections next succeeding.

As heretofore contended, sufficient facts are not before the court to determine whether the employer-employee relationship existed, and certainly when the facts present are examined in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, genuine issues of fact are abundant and should be reserved for the jury. However, if an employer-employee relationship is found, then in that event, Dr. Cox was an independent contractor and plaintiff has properly sought a civil remedy in accordance with the foregoing section.

CONCLUSION

The Trial Court, when viewing these facts in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, should have recognized genuine issues of fact and left said issues for a

jury determination. To do otherwise is error and the Trial Court should be reversed.