1969

Mavis H. Middleton Administratrix of the Estate Of James L. Middleton, A/K/A James Lamont Middleton, Deceased v. Adele R. Cox, Administratrix of the Estate Of Elmyrrh Leany Cox, Deceased : Brief of Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I

PLAINTIFF'S RECOVERY IS PRECLUDED BY THE AIRCRAFT GUEST STATUTE.

AND THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN SO HOLDING AS A MATTER OF LAW

At the time of the accident there was in effect in this state an aircraft guest statute (2-1-33 Utah Code Annotated 1953), set forth in plaintiff's brief. The statute precludes a person riding in an aircraft "as a guest without payment for the ride or transportation, and his personal representative in the event of death of such guest, from recovering against the pilot for the injury, death or loss of such guest, unless the accident was proximately caused by the intoxication or willful misconduct of the pilot. This statute, while similar in content to the automobile guest statute (41-9-1 Utah Code Annotated 1953), requires *payment* for the ride or transportation rather than *compensation*.

The evidence that plaintiff has produced, or shown that she would be able to produce, in the present case clearly establishes that Mr. Middleton paid nothing to Dr. Cox for the ride in his aircraft. Plaintiff attempts to circumvent this serious defect in her case with the contention that Mr. Middleton was a "paying guest" for the reason that he provided services (albeit strictly as a volunteer and for his own enjoyment) as an observer in connection with the flight. Dr. Cox was benefited, the plaintiff argues, because he would have been entitled to obtain reimbursement for some of his out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with the flight. The evidence shows, however, that Dr. Cox (and others like him) donate not only time, skill and aircraft for

the humanitarian purpose of searching for downed aircraft, but do not receive full reimbursement for their out-of-pocket expenses. He was certainly not, as plaintiff states in her brief, *reaping* compensation for his effort. He was the giver, not the receiver.

In any event under the guest statute there must be something more than the minimal and incidental inducement suggested by plaintiff. If there was a benefit to Dr. Cox as a result of Mr. Middleton accompanying him on the ride, the benefit was too intangible, too minimal, and too remote to make Mr. Middleton a paying passenger. The evidence indicates, also, that Dr. Cox already had one observer, and that the mission could have been completed without Mr. Middleton's acting as an additional observer.

There appear to be no Utah cases construing the aircraft guest statute, and decisions from other jurisdictions are not abundant. But recent decisions under the automobile guest statute offer some help in construing the aircraft statute. Under Utah automobile guest cases, the primary consideration has been one of determining the chief inducement for the ride. Even though some incidental consideration should move to the driver, if this were not the chief inducement for furnishing the transportation, the guest statute is applicable and precludes recovery. As stated by this court in *Jensen v. Moxter*, 4 Utah 2d 336, 294 P. 2d 683 (1956):

* * * the cases turn not on whether money is received or paid as a result of carrying a rider,

but upon the fact that the money or other compensation was *given to the driver*, not as a gratuity or in appreciation but rather as an *inducement for making the trip for the rider* or furnishing carriage for the ride." [Emphasis added.]

Plaintiff's statement that the guest statute is in derogation of the common law and should be strictly construed (assuming that it is in derogation of the common law) is in derogation of 68-3-2 Utah Code Annotated 1953, which provides, in part:

"The rule of the common law that statutes in derogation thereof are to be strictly construed has no application to the statutes of this state
* * *

That a nebulous or insignificant consideration or inducement is not sufficient to transform a guest into a paying passenger for the purpose of the guest statute is shown in *Smith v. Franklin*, 14 Utah 2d 16, 376 P. 2d 541 (1962). The plaintiff's decedent had contributed two dollars towards gas used for the trip in which he was killed. The court therein stated:

"The test is simple to state and under most circumstances easy to apply: a passenger for hire is one who pays for his ride; a guest is one who is furnished a ride free of charge. The former is in the nature of a business transaction for money; whereas the latter is motivated by other considerations, usually of a social nature."

The court further said that the phrase "compensation therefor" as used in the statute meant compensation for the ride:

“Therefore, the compensation would have to be sufficient money (or other thing of value) that it reasonably could be supposed that the parties so regarded it.”

The court concluded by saying:

“From our consideration of this subject and authorities which have dealt with it, we are persuaded that the sound and practical view is that the determination should be made on the basis of which was the chief inducement for giving the ride.”

In the present case it can hardly be said that the chief inducement for Dr. Cox giving Mr. Middleton the ride was so Dr. Cox could obtain reimbursement for gasoline used by him in the flight. Any benefit from Mr. Middleton's acting as an observer inured primarily to the CAP and to the public at large, not to Dr. Cox. Statements introduced by plaintiff herself show that it was Mr. Middleton who solicited the ride— not Dr. Cox who solicited the “service”.

In *Eyre v. Burdette*, 8 Utah 2d 166, 330 P.2d 126 (1958), plaintiff's decedent had ridden with defendant driver from Salt Lake City to Denver to pick up some eggs at decedent's ranch, intending to sell the eggs to the driver and others. The plaintiff tried to establish that the purpose of the trip was to gather eggs for the defendant driver and therefore there was a consideration passing for the ride. This court rejected such contention stating:

“There is no evidence that defendant’s car was used because of any compensation given by decedent.

“* * * The record discloses that Mr. Eyre paid nothing for the ride and there is no evidence that defendant ever requested decedent to go with him or that he received any tangible benefit from the decedent, monetary or otherwise, which was a motivating influence for furnishing the transportation.”

The court pointed out that the burden was on the plaintiff to establish that the decedent was a paying passenger and not a guest, and she had failed to carry the burden.

A California case cited by plaintiff, *Whittmore v. Lockheed Aircraft Corp.*, 125 P. 2d 531, 31 Cal. App 2d 605 (1942) is readily distinguishable from the present case. The plaintiff’s intestate was the vice president of an airline which purchased planes from the defendant, and had been personally responsible for the purchase of a number of planes from it. The court, holding that it could not be said as a matter of law that plaintiff was not a guest, noted that it was in the interest of defendant (who was the owner of the plane and the pilot’s employer) that decedent be given what was, in effect, a demonstration ride in the airplane. Thus, there was a direct business benefit *inuring to the owner and operator of the aircraft*, while in the present case no such benefit accrued to the owner and pilot. Moreover, the California statute differs from the Utah statute in

that it uses the words "without giving compensation for such ride," a somewhat broader statement than Utah's "without payment for such ride or transportation."

A case in which the California statute was applied to exclude recovery was *Stiles v. American Trust Company*, 137 Cal. App. 2d 473, 290 P. 2d 614 (1955). Defendants intestate had called a friend (Stiles) and told her that he would take her for a ride in his airplane if she would drive him on some errands around town. She consented and after completing the errands they ran across a friend (Dunn) who had come to visit her. She asked whether the pilot would also take Dunn for a ride and he agreed. Shortly after takeoff the plane crashed killing the pilot and plaintiff Stiles' baby, and injuring Stiles and plaintiff Dunn. The trial court directed verdicts in favor of defendant on Dunn's claim on the basis that as a matter of law he was a guest and the appellate court affirmed stating:

"There was no evidence from which it could be reasonably found that respondent Dunn, or anyone in his behalf, gave 'compensation' to the deceased Dave Holder for respondent Dunn's ride.

* * * Respondent Stiles furnishing Holder with the use of her mother's car could not constitute 'compensation' for the ride for respondent Dunn. At the time that Holder, according to Stiles, promised to give respondent Stiles a ride if she would drive him around, none of the parties contemplated that, unforeseeably, respondent Dunn would accompany them. There was no

evidence from which it could be inferred that the use of the car was conditioned upon Holder giving a ride to respondent Dunn or anyone other than respondent Stiles. * * * Holder did no more than to acquiesce in respondent Stiles' suggestion that respondent Dunn also be taken up. The trial court correctly held that, as a matter of law, respondent Dunn was a guest."

In *United States v. Alexander*, 234 F. 2d 861 (4th Cir., 1956), the federal court, in applying an Indiana guest statute, held that a golfer who was flying in a CAP plane to promote the activities of the CAP was a guest within the meaning of the statute, hence the United States was not liable under the Tort Claims Act. The court stated:

"There would seem to be no doubt that Alexander was a guest at the time of his accident within the meaning of this statute as it has been interpreted by the courts of the state. It has been suggested that he was not being transported without payment because of the possibility that the courtesy extended to him would contribute to the formation of a beneficial arrangement which would increase the financial resources of the CAP. It has been held in Indiana, however, that the mere possibility of benefit to the owner of the vehicle is insufficient to exclude the guest relationship. *Albert McGann Securities Co. v. Coen*, 114 Ind. App. 60, 48 N.E. 2d 58, 1000; *Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v. Stitzle*, 220 Ind. 180, 41 N.E. 2d 133; *Ott v. Perrin*, 116 Ind. 315, 63 N.E. 2d 163. The mere possibility that the flight would result in material gain to the CAP in connection with an enterprise which was still

in the tentative stage was too insubstantial to alter the status of Alexander as a non-paying guest."

Even if it might be argued that Mr. Middleton was not a guest when acting as an observer, plaintiff's statements establish that at the time of the accident he was no longer acting as such. As stated by Commander Whitehead, in the statements submitted and adopted by plaintiff's (R. 120):

"Coming back we were not observing. We were not searching coming back because our search grid had been covered; our assignment had been fulfilled. We were on our way home."

Before boarding the airplane to return to St. George after concluding the search mission, Mr. Middleton could have got home any way he wanted. In fact he considered other means and rejected them.

There is no suggestion in the present case of intoxication on the part of Dr. Cox, and although "willful misconduct" was alleged in the complaint, there is absolutely no evidence to support such allegation, and plaintiff seems to have abandoned the claim in her brief on appeal. Plaintiff's action, therefore, is precluded by the provisions of the aircraft guest statute. None of the facts regarding this issue are in dispute. The question of law was correctly determined by the trial court.

II

IF PLAINTIFF'S INTESTATE WAS NOT A GUEST AT THE TIME OF THE ACCI-

DENT, HE WAS A CO-EMPLOYEE OR FELLOW SERVANT AND PLAINTIFF'S ACTION IS BARRED BY THE PROVISIONS OF 35-1-60 UTAH CODE ANNOTATED 1953.

Defendant submits that the pleadings, answers, interrogations, admissions, and statements placed in the record by plaintiff conclusively establish that at the time of the accident Mr. Middleton was a guest in Dr. Cox's aircraft and this should decide the matter. If it should be concluded, however, that Mr. Middleton was not a guest, the only other possible relationship would be that of co-employee or fellow servant of Dr. Cox, inasmuch as both were working for the Civil Air Patrol at the time of the accident, and plaintiff's exclusive state court remedy lies under the Workman's Compensation Act, particularly 35-1-60 Utah Code Annotated 1953, which provides:

"The right to recover compensation pursuant to the provisions of this title for injuries sustained by an employee, whether resulting in death or not, shall be the exclusive remedy against the employer and shall be the exclusive remedy against any officer, agent or employee of the employer and the liabilities of the employer imposed by this act shall be in place of any and all other civil liability whatsoever, at common law or otherwise, to such employee or to his spouse, widow, children, parents, dependents, next of kin, heirs, personal representatives, guardian, or any other person whomsoever, on account of any accident or injury or death, in

any way contracted, sustained, aggravated or incurred by such employee in the course of or because of or arising out of his employment, and no action at law may be maintained against an employer or against any officer, agent or employee of the employer based upon any accident, injury or death of an employee. . . .

Plaintiff attempts to meet this contention by a unique contradiction. She states that Mr. Middleton was not employed by Dr. Cox but if the Court should find he was employed on the fatal flight, she would contend that he was employed by Dr. Cox, and that Dr. Cox was then an independent contractor. But there is absolutely no evidence in the present case from which it could be found that Dr. Cox was an independent contractor. At the time of the accident, he was in the service of the CAP, a corporation one of the purposes of which is to aid in Air Force search and rescue missions; and, as admitted by plaintiff in her reply to defendant's request for admissions, the flight was part of a CAP search mission under the direction and control of Mr. Wesley Whitehead the local commander, who also participated in the mission in another aircraft (Requests for Admission 8 and 9).

Plaintiff had ample notice of defendant's contention regarding the workmen's compensation issue, and she cannot for the first time on appeal raise such a contention. She asserts that there is not sufficient evidence to determine whether an independent contractor relationship existed. If she had the facts to support this

contention, she should have mentioned them at the time of the summary judgment motion.

Plaintiff's only other rebuttal to the above argument, is that 35-1-57 Utah Code Annotated 1953 negates the exclusive remedy provision because the CAF had not complied with the workmen's compensation statute. But that statute deprives only non-complying *employers* of the benefits of the act, not other employees. The section specifically provides that only the employer is liable in a civil action. To penalize an employee because of his employer's failure to comply with the Workman's Compensation Act would lead to an absurd result. See *Buhler v. Madison*, 105 Utah 39, 140 P. 2d 933 (1943).

III

THERE IS NO GENUINE DISPUTE AS TO ANY MATERIAL FACT AND THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON THE ISSUE OF NEGLIGENCE.

Because of the guest statute the issue of simple negligence should not be involved in this case at all, but if Mr. Middleton was not a guest in Dr. Cox's aircraft plaintiff must fail nevertheless. In the four years that this lawsuit has been pending, plaintiff has been unable to point to any negligence on the part of Dr. Cox which proximately caused Mr. Middleton's death. Although

she claims Dr. Cox operated his aircraft with a dead battery and an inoperative generator, she has been unable to show that this led to the emergency landing and consequent death of Mr. Middleton. He had conducted the search with the same conditions existing, and, as Commander Whitehead stated, there should have been no problems on the return flight (R. 123).

Plaintiff also makes the claim that Dr. Cox chose the mountainous route during hot weather. However, this is the usual airway route (R. 88) and no more hazardous than any other mountain flying. The cause of the accident is unknown as shown by plaintiff's answer to defendant's interrogatories. Attempts to determine the cause must be based on pure speculation. All that is known about the accident is that Dr. Cox attempted a landing in a flat meadow and unfortunately struck a lava outcrop, which could not be observed from the air. The reason for the emergency landing probably can never be known.

Concerning the issue of negligence and the causal relationship thereof to the accident, defendant served a number of interrogatories upon plaintiff. Asked to describe any defective condition of the aircraft existing before the accident and its causal relationship to the accident (R. 7) defendant merely replied:

"Direct causal relationship under the conditions and circumstances of the operation of the operation (sic) of said aircraft under prevailing weather conditions, terrain and altitude."

Asked to detail the facts relied upon by her to support her claim that the aircraft was not airworthy at the time of the flight and the causal relationship between the condition and the accident (R. 8) plaintiff did nothing but refer back to the above "answer".

Asked to detail the facts on which she relied to support her averment that the negligent, willful and reckless conduct of Dr. Cox while operating said aircraft under the conditions claimed caused the accident, plaintiff again referred back to her prior response in which she claimed, *ipse dixit*, that there was a causal relationship (R. 19).

In subsequent interrogatories the plaintiff was asked to identify each person having knowledge or information that Dr. Cox knew in fact that the aircraft was not properly equipped for the conditions of said flight (R. 10). She replied that the person having such information was Dr. Cox. Plaintiff could certainly prove no facts from this source.

While plaintiff has made a number of changes regarding the condition of the aircraft and the flight taken by Dr. Cox, nowhere during the course of the litigation has she been able, to give any indication as to the manner in which these factors constituted negligence or how they contributed to the accident. Some of the conditions she no longer mentions, apparently having abandoned them. Further, plaintiff took a number of statements from people most familiar with the aircraft and the fatal flight and none of the persons suggest any

negligence on the part of Dr. Cox. On the contrary they indicate that they can do no more than the rest of us, that is, speculate regarding the cause of the accident.

Plaintiff invokes the rule that summary judgment should be granted only when the facts, viewed in the light most favorable to plaintiff, show she could not recover as a matter of law and suggests that reasonable minds would differ concerning whether a prudent person would make a flight in a small aircraft loaded with three passengers on a hot summer day over the airway route with a dead battery and inoperative generator. Conceding the rule, plaintiff is at least required, in meeting the motion for summary judgment, to show that she has some evidence indicating that a prudent person would not do so and hence that this constituted negligence on the part of Dr. Cox. This she has not done.

At the hearing on the motion for summary judgment, plaintiff's counsel conceded that plaintiff has submitted to the court all of the evidence that she has to establish negligence. Such evidence is not sufficient when viewed in any light to enable plaintiff to support her claims. Thus summary judgment in favor of defendant was proper. As stated in 3 *Barron & Holtzoff, Federal Practice and Procedure*, §1235:

"Under these principles, what showing must be made by the party opposing a summary judgment? It is clear that a hearing on a summary judgment motion is not a trial on the merits, and

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